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          1  COMMITTEES ON IMMIGRATION AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good afternoon.

          3  My name is Councilman Stewart, and call to order the

          4  Committee on Immigration and the Committee on Civil

          5  Rights that I'll be Chairing.

          6                 Once again, good afternoon.  I am

          7  Councilman Kendall Stewart, and I Chair the

          8  Committee on Immigration.  Today, the Committee will

          9  be considering two items.  The Border Protection,

         10  Anti- terrorism, and the Illegal Immigration Control

         11  Act of 2005, which is H.R. 4437, currently pending

         12  in Congress.  And Resolution No. 193, which

         13  denounces it.

         14                 Though up to now, we have benefit

         15  tremendously from immigration, there is a heated

         16  public debate as to whether immigration continues to

         17  benefit us.  The debate on immigration is a policy

         18  debate.  Are immigrants good for America?  How many

         19  immigrants should we admit?  What kinds of

         20  immigrants should we admit?  How should we treat

         21  immigrants once they are here?

         22                 Immigration is inextricably part of

         23  the American national identity, and always has been.

         24    Immigrants have kept the great melting pot

         25  floating.  The immigrants of the past laid the
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          2  framework for this great nation, with their blood,

          3  sweat, and tears.

          4                 While the government agencies that

          5  administer our nation's immigration laws need

          6  substantial reform, it is questionable whether H.R.

          7  4437 is the sensible solution.  H.R. 4437 would,

          8  among other things, criminalize organizations and

          9  individuals assisting undocumented immigrants.  It

         10  will criminalize undocumented immigrants'

         11  immigration status.  And grant state and local law

         12  enforcement agencies inherent authority to enforce

         13  immigration laws.  It will only serve to further

         14  militarize the border, and could erroneously push

         15  many legal residents and U.S. Citizens into the

         16  criminal justice system indefinitely.

         17                 Any immigration bill that is passed

         18  should protect refugees, reunite families, provide

         19  for the needs of American businesses to remain

         20  globally competitive, and offer protection for

         21  anyone who is subject to civil or criminal penalties

         22  as a result.             I am happy to report that

         23  on Monday, March 27, 2006, the Senate Judiciary

         24  Committee voted 12 to six to approve the broad

         25  outline of the Secure America and Orderly
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          2  Immigration Act, a comprehensive immigration reform

          3  bill, which creates a part for some of the nation's

          4  estimated 11 million illegal immigrants to become

          5  citizens without first leaving the country.  And to

          6  allow additional foreign workers to enter the United

          7  States temporarily under a program that also could

          8  lead to citizenship.

          9                 Unlike the House bill, it seeks

         10  comprehensive overall of immigration laws.  Not just

         11  tightened borders and strict enforcement, but also a

         12  sensible part to legal status for illegal workers

         13  already here, and others who want to come.

         14                 It is expected that these bills will

         15  be the driving force for lengthy negotiations

         16  between the Senate and the House. I oppose the

         17  Border Protection, Anti-terrorism, and Illegal

         18  Immigration Control Act of 2005, and I urge passage

         19  of Resolution 193 denouncing it.

         20                 Before I pass the floor to my

         21  esteemed colleague for his opening comments, I would

         22  like to take a quick moment to remind everyone that

         23  the legislative determination we are discussing

         24  today regarding how INS functions, or will function,

         25  come from Washington, and I do not want anyone to be
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          2  confused into thinking that we are making decisions

          3  or have the authority to make decisions that we have

          4  not made.

          5                 I am happy to pass the microphone to

          6  my colleague, Council Member Seabrook.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          8  much Chairman Stewart.  And good afternoon.  I'm

          9  Council Member Larry B. Seabrook, and I Chair the

         10  Civil Rights Committee.

         11                 Under consideration today is a

         12  resolution aimed at denouncing current Congressional

         13  measures adopted to tackle problems and concerns

         14  with our immigration system.  The presence of large

         15  numbers of undocumented immigrants in the United

         16  States is a clear indication that the nation's

         17  immigration policies are not working, are in need of

         18  reform.  However, it is clear that we cannot solve

         19  our problems by enforcement alone.  More and more

         20  immigration laws and actions by the Executive Branch

         21  have been moving this country away from our

         22  tradition of treating everyone fairly under the law.

         23    The amount of due process one gets is increasingly

         24  becoming dependent on citizenship status.

         25                 In 1996, Congress passed a series of
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          2  laws that significantly changed our immigration

          3  laws.  The consequences have been harsh.  Refugees

          4  fleeing persecution are now much more likely to be

          5  sent back by low- level immigration officials.

          6  Families have been torn apart because legal

          7  immigrants, who had a minor brush with the law

          8  decades ago, can be locked up and deported.

          9                 Congress stripped the courts of the

         10  power to review most immigration matters, and the

         11  Administration have changed an important

         12  administration appeals board, the Board of

         13  Immigration Appeals, so that it is more inclined to

         14  rubber stamp a law immigration judges decision.

         15                 The debate as to whether we will

         16  continue to treat immigrants unfairly under the law,

         17  continues to be a hot topic.  It is plainly evident

         18  that the Border Protection, Anti-terrorism, and

         19  Illegal Immigration Control Act of 2005, House

         20  Resolution 4437, furthers the erosion of due

         21  process, expands a costly detention of immigrants,

         22  guts the Federal Court's authority to review

         23  immigration matters, turn many minor crimes into

         24  aggravated felonies, eliminates key safeguards

         25  concerning evidence used to prove that an immigrant
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          2  is deportable for an aggravated felony, reverses the

          3  burden of proof, undermines state courts' decisions

          4  regarding the reversal of vacation of convictions in

          5  the immigration proceedings, and impose mandatory

          6  minimum sentences for too many offenses.

          7                 Immigration policy and civil

          8  liberties we embrace are a reflection of our

          9  nation's values and significantly impact and shape

         10  our country's future.  While measures are needed to

         11  secure the borders and enforce the immigration laws,

         12  H.R. 4437 seems to offer much that will harm current

         13  civil liberties, and very little that will resolve

         14  the difficult problems of illegal immigration.

         15                 City officials have a responsibility

         16  to oppose Federal legislation that would negatively

         17  impact its residents from passing through Congress.

         18  And I strongly urge the City Council to pass

         19  Resolution 193 so that we can let the elected

         20  officials in the Senate know that we oppose H.R.

         21  4437.  Thank you very much Mr. Chairman.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Before I call on

         23  Council Member Martinez, who is the sponsor of the

         24  resolution, I would like to recognize Council Member

         25  Viverito, and Council Member Michael Nelson, who are
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          2  also part of the Committee.

          3                 Council Member Martinez.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you

          5  Mr. Chair.  I want to commend you and Chairman

          6  Seabrook for holding this hearing on this important

          7  issue.

          8                 It is extremely important for the

          9  City of New York to raise its voice and its body to

         10  send a message to Washington, as stated by Chairman

         11  Seabrook, that this City opposes H.R. 4437.  As a

         12  City that has a Statue of Liberty with a torch and a

         13  bible that says give me your poor and your most

         14  needy, we can't stand as a City, silent, and allow

         15  federal legislation to call on building additional

         16  walls and keeping those needys (sic) and those poors

         17  (sic) away.  We can't stand as a City to allow that

         18  federal legislation put at risk the many progress

         19  that this body, this City has made in the protection

         20  of immigrant rights and the protection of services

         21  for immigrants, regardless of their social or

         22  political or legal status.  Everyone in the City of

         23  New York has access to City services.  Has access to

         24  public safety without fear of deportation.  And

         25  allowing federal government to put on legislation
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          2  that would put our progress at jeopardy and at risk,

          3  we cannot tolerate.

          4                 So it is extremely important for us,

          5  even though we've heard of progress being made in

          6  Washington, with new comprehensive immigration

          7  reforms, we must raise our voice and send a clear

          8  message that the City of New York opposes this type

          9  of legislation, and the City of New York will

         10  continue to stand in favor of protecting the rights

         11  of all citizens that come to the City of New York,

         12  regardless of their legal status, and as so clearly

         13  stated by Chairman Seabrook, we're not going to

         14  stand for legislation that will violate any civil

         15  rights or due process of the law for anyone who is

         16  in the states or particularly, in the City of New

         17  York.

         18                 So, again, I want to commend you Mr.

         19  Chair, for this hearing.  And for assuring that the

         20  City of New York also raises its voice against H.R.

         21  4437, or any federal legislation that will put at

         22  risk the advancement we've made in the protection of

         23  due process, and the protection of services for all

         24  New Yorkers.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time,
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          2  I'd like to announce that Council Member Letitia

          3  James has just joined us.  And I don't know if she

          4  has an opening statement.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Not an opening

          6  statement, but just a comment.  Obviously, I support

          7  this resolution, and oppose the H.R. 4437.  And I

          8  just want to congratulate the immigrant community,

          9  particularly in light of what I just witnessed this

         10  past week and this past weekend, how they were able

         11  to organize and galvanize on an opposition to this

         12  bill.  It was absolutely amazing, particularly in

         13  Los Angeles, where half a million people gathered at

         14  a moment's notice, as a result of all of the Spanish

         15  speaking language radio stations, all throughout the

         16  city and state of California, mobilized against this

         17  proposition.  It really has awakened a sleeping

         18  giant.  The nation has taken notice.  It scared

         19  them.  It put fire under them.  And it just really

         20  alerted the powers that be in Washington that we

         21  will not stand by and allow them to denigrate and/or

         22  to restrict our rights.

         23                 And also, the fact that they continue

         24  to objectify immigrants, and that they only want to

         25  talk about immigrants in relation to the role that
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          2  they play in our local economy.  As opposed to their

          3  human rights.  And we really need to talk about them

          4  in terms of their humanity, and not as opposed as to

          5  what they can contribute to our local economy.

          6                 The fact is that families have been

          7  separated.  The fact is that individuals have died

          8  for the right to be in this country.  And have

          9  worked long and hard to build up this country, and

         10  we really need to recognize them.  And we need to

         11  celebrate that woman who stands in our waters, and

         12  what she represents, not only for all Americans, but

         13  all immigrants who are seeking to come to these

         14  shores.  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time, I

         16  will call on Deborah Notkin, from the American

         17  Immigration Lawyers Association.

         18  And also, Javier A. Gallatto, from the Latin

         19  American Workers Project.

         20                 And I assume that you're going to be

         21  speaking in favor of  --.  If you please identify

         22  yourself, and then you may begin.

         23                 MS. NOTKIN: I'm Deborah Notkin.  I'm

         24  the President of the American Immigration Lawyers

         25  nationally.  And I want to thank Councilman Stewart
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          2  and the Council for having this hearing, and for

          3  putting a resolution forward to oppose H.R. 4437.

          4                 The Secure American Orderly

          5  Immigration Act, the McCain Kennedy bill, is the

          6  way, I believe, we should go.  Not H.R. 37.

          7  Enforcement only, even fair enforcement only, does

          8  not work when you have a dysfunctional system.  Why

          9  would we want to throw more dollars at enforcing our

         10  borders, when we're keeping out a large number of

         11  people who we actually need to benefit our economy?

         12  This is tantamount to having a 20- mile per hour

         13  speed limit on the highways, and deciding that we

         14  have to find a way to enforce it for every single

         15  driver before we can change it.

         16                 And that's the problem we see here.

         17  Not only does enforcement only not work, but the

         18  particular bill before us, H.R. 447 would severely

         19  victimize immigrants, both those who are not here

         20  with papers, and the net is so wide that we can have

         21  victimizations of permanent residents, and those

         22  including lawyers, who would be providing services

         23  to them.  Legal services, of which I would think

         24  they have a right to seek.  It is the most draconian

         25  piece of immigration enforcement legislation that we
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          2  would have ever seen.

          3                 And let me say this.  We've already

          4  tried an enforcement only legislation.  In 1996, we

          5  passed the Immigration Enforcement Act called IRA,

          6  which makes people who have been over stayed here

          7  for a period of six months, subject to a three- year

          8  bar in returning.  And it becomes ten years after

          9  they're here for a year.  So what we've basically

         10  done is we've locked in people, because when they go

         11  home, they're subject to that bar.  Has that helped

         12  to stop undocumented immigration?  No, it has not.

         13                 And I think we need to find what the

         14  root causes are.  We know that it is better for us

         15  to have people to come here in a safe, legal,

         16  orderly fashion.  So we know who they are.  And so

         17  they can participate in the opportunities of this

         18  country the way the rest of us do.

         19                 And the problems are this.  They're

         20  rooted in our laws, which are broken.  We have 20th

         21  century laws.  The framework of which was crafted 50

         22  or 60 years ago.  These laws did not anticipate that

         23  the U.S. Would have a chronic shortage of lesser

         24  skilled workers.  And so now what we have is by all

         25  accounts, by the Board of Labor Statistics and
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          2  economists, a large shortfall of U.S. Workers, no

          3  matter what we pay, the numbers aren't there to fill

          4  a number of jobs in industries such as health care,

          5  the hospitality industry, agriculture, health care,

          6  meat packing, to name a few.

          7                 We don't have a legal visa for these

          8  people.  We have on visa called H2B visa, which

          9  backs up every year, because we fill the numbers.

         10  That only allows people to come here to fill

         11  temporary positions.  A waiter in a year- long job

         12  in restaurant, a hog farmer in Iowa can't use this

         13  program.  And so what we have, is people from other

         14  countries, many south of the border, who right now

         15  have countries with economies that can't give them

         16  opportunities for jobs, coming over the border

         17  because of the attraction of employment that's

         18  waiting for them here.

         19                 The other reason that we have a

         20  broken system is because of our family immigration

         21  system, which is draconian, when you look at the

         22  system of most other advanced Western European

         23  countries.  We have backlogs of anywhere from four

         24  to 20 years, for family members to come here to

         25  reunite with their permanent resident or U.S.
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          2  Citizen relative.  And the worse one is the spouses

          3  and children of permanent residents.  They have a

          4  numeric limitation on how many can come in.  So a

          5  legal, permanent resident here has to wait about

          6  five years to bring their minor children and

          7  spouses.  And I've go to tell you that I don't know

          8  of any other advanced democratic country in this

          9  world that discriminates this way against those

         10  children.

         11                 The other thing I want to say is that

         12  I think we need a comprehensive approach to the

         13  McCain Kennedy bill, and that is a temporary worker

         14  program.  And a path for those that are staying in

         15  these areas of employment, and can show proficiency

         16  in English.  A path to permanent residence.

         17                 Now, the opponents of this concept

         18  are saying, all we're doing is giving people an

         19  amnesty and it will encourage us having more

         20  undocumented immigrants come through.  But I would

         21  like the Council to look at amnesty in a different

         22  way.  And see what the root problem was.  There is

         23  nothing proposed in any of the comprehensive

         24  immigration reform bills that is an amnesty.  And

         25  amnesty, in 1986, allowed people who could establish
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          2  they were here for a certain period of time, to

          3  legalize their status, whether they were employed or

          4  not.  And the problem with amnesty is not that it

          5  encourages more illegal immigration, but it was only

          6  a bandaid on the main problem.  That we did not have

          7  a reasonable way to bring people here to fill

          8  chronic work shortages, or skilled work of any sort,

          9  on a reasonable basis.

         10                 And the permanent residents category,

         11  for the less skilled categories.  You know how many

         12  people are allowed in those categories?  We hear

         13  people talking about the people that are waiting in

         14  line for a lesser skilled job, we have a quota of

         15  five thousand immigrants that can come in a year,

         16  after the employers do a labor market test.  So of

         17  course, this category is also backed up for five

         18  years.

         19                 Can we ask an employer in a nursing

         20  home, who desperately needs home health aides to

         21  wait for five years for people he needs now, to take

         22  care of our parents?  And some day, sooner rather

         23  than later for some of us, to take care of us.

         24                 So I think we have to face reality.

         25  I think we have to realize that we want people to be
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          2  able to come here to produce. Our City as well as

          3  our country flourishes because we have always been a

          4  welcoming nation, and brought in immigrants who have

          5  contributed to our society.

          6                 And it's not just New York.  Iowa.  I

          7  got the State of Iowa, who would have lost one state

          8  Congressional representative when that federal

          9  Congressional representative now, if immigration

         10  hadn't kept their population growth at the level it

         11  was.

         12                 Just in ending, I want to talk about

         13  one interesting fact.  And I want to acknowledge the

         14  Council for going back in history a little.  Because

         15  I looked back in history when I was tackling this

         16  issue.  And I read a Commission report that was

         17  commissioned under Theodore Roosevelt, the

         18  Dillingham Report.  Now, President Roosevelt, in

         19  this report was commissioned in the beginning of a

         20  large wave, the first large wave of immigrants from

         21  Eastern and Southern Europe.  Most of the immigrants

         22  before this were from Western Europe, from England,

         23  from Ireland.  Some from Germany.  And they were

         24  mainly moved into agriculture and small business.

         25  And as we had an industrialization in the cities,
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          2  there was a need to have somebody else, because the

          3  U.S. Population wasn't willing, to take these jobs.

          4  So you had a large influx of these immigrants for

          5  the first time.  People who had names like Goldberg,

          6  and Tancredo, and Notkin, and Scalia, and McCulska.

          7                 But at that time, the Congress didn't

          8  know the term "politically correct".  So what their

          9  commission stated are very telling of the fear and

         10  concern that an element of our population had then.

         11  And if you think about it, and think about some of

         12  the concerns now, and a little bit of this

         13  anaphobia, I think you can see, it's a little same

         14  old, same old.

         15                 While the Dillingham Commission had

         16  some really good statistics about the wave of

         17  immigration, they also talk about the nature of the

         18  Southern and Eastern European immigrants coming in.

         19  And they say, this race  --  they considered it a

         20  separate race  -- of people, don't embrace our

         21  language.  They're a different culture.  They're

         22  less educated.  So they're less intelligent. They're

         23  not going to integrate.  They're not going to join

         24  the melting pot, and they're going to impact badly

         25  on what we view as the American culture.
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          2                 I want you to think about that when

          3  you think about some of the concerns behind some of

          4  this, that in my opinion, have no rationality.  We

          5  are a nation of immigrants.  Every wave of

          6  immigrants has enriched us economically and

          7  culturally.  And comprehensive immigration reform is

          8  the time that has come. Enforcement only and

          9  criminalizing the undocumented that is something

         10  that we should leave to other countries who's

         11  economies and cultures stagnate, because they are

         12  not welcoming to immigrants.

         13                 And just one more comment.  I want us

         14  to keep our symbols of Statue of Liberty.  I don't

         15  want to see the new symbol of America become

         16  something like a Berlin wall.  Thank you for letting

         17  me testify today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Before I have

         19  the next speaker, I'd like to recognize the Finance

         20  Chair of the City Council, Council Member Dave

         21  Weprin.

         22                 MR. GALLARDO: Good afternoon ladies

         23  and gentlemen. My name is Javier Gallardo.  I'm a

         24  Labor Organizer for the Latin American Workers

         25  Project.  In addition of our hundreds of members and
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          2  supporters, I also represent the New York Labor

          3  Coalition, a Citywide coalition of day laborers

          4  community, advocacy and legal organizations working

          5  to seek public funding for the community job centers

          6  for day laborers.

          7                 I'm here to discuss some of the

          8  devastating affects that provisions of the Border

          9  Protection, Anti-terrorism, and Illegal Immigration

         10  Control Act of 2005, H.R. 4437, would create on

         11  immigrant workers, families, and their children,

         12  many of whom are, in fact, U.S. citizens at birth,

         13  if passed into law.

         14                 The Latin American Workers Project

         15  started organizing day laborers in the early 2000s,

         16  with the main goal of targeting exploitation,

         17  improving working conditions, and creating community

         18  job centers.  On March 4, 2002, workers from 18th

         19  Avenue and the advocates mobilized in the parking

         20  lot at the end of Bay Parkway in Bensenhurst with a

         21  clear objective, to open a job center in order to

         22  work together to improve our working conditions, and

         23  join, in a positive way, into the cultural,

         24  economical and educational development process of

         25  the communities where we live, work, and maintain
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          2  our children and families.

          3                 Our efforts resulted in while the

          4  Latino America Workers Project most significant

          5  achievement, the creation of the Bay Parkway

          6  Community Job Center.  The Bay Parkway Community Job

          7  Center, while a modest effort, continues to be a

          8  success and a memorial of human growth, leadership,

          9  development, and professional training.  It

         10  maintains a membership of 1,000 people, forth

         11  percent of whom have found permanent work.

         12                 Why should local public officials be

         13  concerned about legislation that would drive day

         14  labor centers out of existence? Legislation recently

         15  passed in the U.S. House of Representatives presents

         16  to eliminate day labor centers, critical resources

         17  that communities depend upon to address difficult

         18  situations.  Day labor centers were developed as a

         19  solution to concerns about informal in street

         20  hiring.  They have helped communities bring order

         21  into the competitions to find work in public

         22  pathways and parking lots.

         23                 Day labor centers also foster

         24  positive relations between new immigrants and the

         25  larger communities in which they live and work.
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          2  They help integrate low- wage workers into American

          3  civic life, and facilitate collective deliberation,

          4  worker education, and a number of important issues,

          5  including occupational health and safety, and offer

          6  related support for the workers.

          7                 Political officials support day labor

          8  centers because they benefit communities as a whole.

          9    The presence of a worker center in a community

         10  reduces concern about traffic, health and safety

         11  violations.  They improve community relations by

         12  providing a safe, secure place for workers to gather

         13  as they search for work.

         14                 At their best, they work.  And when

         15  fully funded, the center also provides critical

         16  resources to communities and their residents,

         17  including job training, ESL, food and clothing

         18  banks, referral to social services, and a gathering

         19  place for culture and social events.

         20                 Pending legislation before the

         21  Congress would treat local communities for important

         22  results for dealing with these important concerns,

         23  and would hurt workers, families and children. Day

         24  labor centers will be forced out of existence by the

         25  Border Protection, Anti-terrorism, and Illegal
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          2  Immigration Control Act of 2005, which passed in the

          3  House on December 16, 2005.  Under Section 705 of

          4  the House bill, day labor centers such as ours as

          5  well as private individuals, churches, and

          6  government agencies that assist centers will face

          7  criminal liability for connecting day labors with

          8  employers.  For connecting day laborers with

          9  employers.

         10                 Under Section 708, already secured

         11  funding options for centers will be limited by a

         12  provision preventing cities from enacting ordinances

         13  that require businesses, such as Home Depot stores

         14  to provide funding or any other formal support to

         15  day labor centers.  This is not progress, but in

         16  fact, will take us back to the years of illicit

         17  hiring, where workers do not know the employers, and

         18  where workers deaths and accidents will be more

         19  common and harder to monitor and prevent.

         20                 Why should public officials act to

         21  pose this legislation?  If passed into law, as our

         22  4437 would have a devastating impact on the

         23  liability of public officials in cities like New

         24  York to set their constituents, will force them to

         25  discriminate against members of the community, and
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          2  will hurt the communities they serve.

          3                 Many of the central functions of day

          4  labor centers served will be lost.  Day labor

          5  centers help cities and towns become more liable

          6  providing a hiring option that connects workers and

          7  employers in a human and orderly way.  Day labor

          8  centers offer stability and strength to evolving and

          9  changing communities.  Day labor centers provide a

         10  space for dialogue between day labors and local

         11  owners, members of the community, and government

         12  representatives.  They play a significant role in

         13  easing and reducing community tensions.

         14                 They help to mitigate the

         15  relationships between the new immigrants and

         16  government agencies.  If the Bay Parkway Community

         17  Job Center were to be eliminated, entire community

         18  will suffer, even workers will be driven further

         19  underground, where there will be more vulnerable to

         20  abuse.  Relations between immigrant workers and

         21  communities and government will be severely

         22  strained.  A sense of a positive community spirit

         23  and engagement that we have worked so hard to build

         24  over the years will be replaced by weariness, fear,

         25  discrimination, and more abuse.
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          2                 We urge City Council to stand with us

          3  in all decent freedom for laborer New Yorkers, to

          4  pass Resolution 193 and to strongly denounce H.R.

          5  4437 and all provisions in bills before the Senate

          6  that would criminalize immigrants and the word of

          7  those who have advocate on their behalf.

          8                 Over the past several days, major

          9  cities nationwide such as Chicago, Washington D.C.,

         10  and Los Angeles have staged massive resistance to

         11  this legislation.  New York City, for immigrants,

         12  must stay as a vanguard of the nation in its sense

         13  of how we protect the right of the workers, and

         14  immigrant families and children.  This legislation

         15  is a set back toward fear and more onset immigrant

         16  abuse.  We must stay vigilant, and make sure that

         17  New York continues to lead the nation and that we

         18  move forward and advance this right of all.  We must

         19  stay vigilant and ensure that we do not fall behind.

         20    Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I must say that

         22  we will, because of the amount of people that we

         23  have there this evening, to testify, we would want

         24  to limit your time to five minutes. Normally, we

         25  limit it to three minutes, but I'm trying to make
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          2  sure that everyone do justice to what they came here

          3  to do.  And so, for the next coming speakers, I

          4  would like you to limit your speech to --  or your

          5  testimony to five minutes and no more.

          6                 Do any one of my colleagues have

          7  questions for this panel?  Council Member Seabrook.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          9  much.  Just a couple of questions that I have, legal

         10  questions as it relates to this bill.  And the

         11  person who is a citizen, living with a person who is

         12  undocumented, what are the legal ramifications that

         13  one faces with that?

         14                 MS. NOTKIN: Well, the statute is so

         15  broad, that depending on how it's interpreted,

         16  family members, possibly not including spouses,

         17  could be considered in that net of harboring and

         18  aiding and abetting and illegal immigrant.  That's

         19  how extreme it is.  Let alone anybody who is doing a

         20  soup kitchen, are they supposed to ask for

         21  documentation beforehand?  And attorneys, and as he

         22  said.  But yes.  Family members generally could also

         23  be at risk of falling under the umbrella of the

         24  statute.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And what
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          2  happens also, with -  or how is the affect on

          3  religious institution, as it relates to this bill?

          4                 MS. NOTKIN: Well, that is quite

          5  significant, because the religious community has

          6  historically, in this City and many other places,

          7  played a tremendous relief role for these people,

          8  whether it's housing, it's other kinds of aids, or

          9  it's also legal clinics which they provide.  They

         10  would be at great risk.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And lastly,

         12  what happens to the undocumented children, who are

         13  in the public schools here in New York City, and

         14  their teachers, as it relates.  What is the legal

         15  ramifications of that with this bill?

         16                 MS. NOTKIN: You know, one can only

         17  imagine how bad it is.  The children whose parents

         18  can be arrested.  What's also scary  --  I just want

         19  to suggest  --  that puts  --  I also want to

         20  suggest to you, the scariness of the children who

         21  are U.S. Citizens born to undocumented parents, and

         22  there have actually been some situations in other

         23  states, in Arkansas, for example, where there was a

         24  raid at factories, and then Border Patrol had to go

         25  back and check all these houses and figure out what
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          2  to do with all these babies that were going to be

          3  unattended.  So the impact on children, both on

          4  documented children and the people that would

          5  normally teach or service them, and our own

          6  citizens.  It would be a draconian result for

          7  everybody.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Ms. Notkin, as a

         11  legal person, what do you  --  how would you explain

         12  Executive Order 41, as it relates to now that if

         13  this bill was to pass?  How would we be able to

         14  relate to that, knowing that the Mayor has signed

         15  Executive Order 41, whereby you're not supposed to

         16  ask any questions as far as immigration is

         17  concerned.  And then, you would have to  --  you

         18  still would continue to assist those folks if you

         19  didn't know about their immigration status.  How

         20  does that relate?

         21                 MS. NOTKIN: You could be  --  this

         22  law could theoretically criminalize those in the

         23  City that are carrying out the Executive Order.  I

         24  think it's safe to say that this proposed law cuts

         25  that wide of a swath Councilman Stewart.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

          3  Viverito.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

          5  you very much Mr. Chair.  I guess the other concern

          6  here, obviously, as it has been presented, is not

          7  only with regard to those organizations, individuals

          8  that are providing assistance, but also the fact

          9  that local law enforcement is going to be given the

         10  authority so to speak, to enforce these immigration

         11  laws.  That's part of the scary concept.  I think

         12  when you're talking about individuals that want to

         13  access services, or the fear that exists right now,

         14  and the authorities don't have that right.  So this

         15  is very, very draconian, as you're saying, but it's

         16  a very scary concept in the City.

         17                 MS. NOTKIN: Yes.  And I think we have

         18  a good example of seeing where that can go awry when

         19  we have State or City officials that are apt to

         20  enforce our federal immigration laws. And that's in

         21  the driver's license situation in New York, where we

         22  actually have  --  you know, we have people at DMV

         23  that are supposed to decide someone's status so they

         24  can give them a driver's license.  And I'll just

         25  give you one example of people who are here on
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          2  business, legal work visas, the H1B, where if you

          3  file for an extension of the H1B, the day it

          4  expires, you are here legally, you are authorized to

          5  work, Immigration understand that, employers

          6  understand they can still employ somebody.

          7  Everybody understands that except for DMV, who won't

          8  renew somebody's driver's license while they have an

          9  extension pending.

         10                 And these are our best and our

         11  brightest.  You know, these are immigrants that are

         12  here as professionals.  So it just staggers the

         13  imagination on how police officers are going to be

         14  able to distinguish between who is allowed to be

         15  here legally and who is not.

         16                 And I can anticipate people  --  U.S.

         17  Citizens being detained if they look like they come

         18  from an immigrant community. It's just staggering,

         19  and I think that many of the police agencies don't

         20  want it, because they know it could be a very

         21  difficult situation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         25  Seabrook.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just a point of

          3  clarification as well.  Our job, as Council people

          4  is to provide service for those people who are in

          5  our district.  And we have a tremendous amount of

          6  people in our district.  So we are actually running

          7  the risk of in violation of the law if we provide

          8  service to anybody that come to get service from our

          9  office.  Is that correct?

         10                 MS. NOTKIN: That could be correct.

         11  That could be correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: But

         13  can I ask a question regarding that.  I mean, what

         14  the law be in a way, may be asking us, as elected

         15  officials, to be enforcers to a certain extent, too.

         16       I mean, would that be the expectation?  You

         17  know, I mean, this is something that  --  the waters

         18  are just so muddy as you're saying, and they're so

         19  broad in terms of what can be defined.  But in your

         20  understanding of the law, what would the expectation

         21  be of elected officials that are here to enforce the

         22  law, to a certain extent?  In different way.  You

         23  know, be required to be considered informers.

         24                 MS. NOTKIN: Well, I think it would

         25  depend on the regulatory scheme, but one thing
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          2  that's clear in this criminalization, is that you

          3  would most likely be required to be responsible for

          4  checking somebody's status, and verifying it before

          5  you could perform any service.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

          7  Outrageous. Outrageous.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

          9  follow up on that a little bit before I let you go.

         10  So what you're saying, basically, that if someone is

         11  here, and wants to go to NYU, and that person is

         12  undocumented, and even though they obtain their

         13  tuition and all of that, NYU is obligated to find

         14  out their status before they can assist them in

         15  having them be attending their university?

         16                 MS. NOTKIN: Actually, Councilman

         17  Stewart, that's already the law.  And they've

         18  tightened the reporting requirements of the school

         19  after 9- 11, with the Patriot Act, that the schools

         20  that are authorized to issue I- 20s, which give

         21  people the opportunity to come here on legal student

         22  visas, can lose that authorization if they allow

         23  people who are undocumented to attend their schools.

         24    You know, unless it slips through the cracks, I

         25  think you do not see any or many people who don't

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEES ON IMMIGRATION AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  have valid status who are going to New York

          3  University or Columbia University, because of the

          4  restrictions on the schools for allowing that now.

          5  That's already the law.  And that' why the Dream

          6  Act, which is another legislative component that

          7  we've been fighting for, has been tasked to give

          8  these young immigrant valedictorians and the

          9  students who have risen up, the chance to go to

         10  these universities that want to offer them

         11  scholarships, but can't even offer them admission.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         13  Nelson.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Just a brief

         15  point to that. Unless my colleagues be worried that

         16  they'd be hauled off by some agency.  You'd have to

         17  know, and we're not an investigatory agency. We

         18  don't look into the fact by legal.  Unless the

         19  provision of H.R. Would provide that.  We don't have

         20  to do that.  It's if we help them with full

         21  knowledge that they  --  or any knowledge that they

         22  are illegal aliens, or immigrants.  I just wanted to

         23  add that to this discussion at the moment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to thank

         25  you for your testimony.  We will continue to watch
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          2  this and see how the federal government deals with

          3  this issue.  But we want to thank you for your

          4  testimony, and be vigil in that we'll be working

          5  hard to make sure that we protect each and every one

          6  in this City.  Thank you.

          7                 Our next witness will Robert Carey,

          8  from the International Rescue Committee.  And I see

          9  here he intends to speak in opposition to the

         10  resolution.  Mr. Carey, would you please have a

         11  seat?  Identify yourself, and you may begin.

         12                 MR. CAREY: Yes.  I'm in opposition to

         13  the bill.  To the legislation.  I'd like to clarify.

         14                 Good afternoon Mr. Chairman and

         15  members of the Council.  Should I wait for the

         16  distribution?  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Go ahead, sir.

         18                 MR. CAREY: Thank you.   Good

         19  afternoon Mr. Chairman and members of the Council.

         20  My name is Robert Carey, and I'm Vice President for

         21  Resettlement at the International Rescue Committee.

         22  I'm pleased to have the opportunity to address the

         23  New York City Council's Committee on Immigration and

         24  Committee on Civil Rights, on the crucial issue of

         25  immigration reform, which is currently being debated
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          2  before the U.S. Congress.

          3                 Founded in New York over 75 years

          4  ago, the International Rescue Committee is a non-

          5  governmental, nonprofit agency providing

          6  humanitarian assistance, protection, and

          7  resettlement services and advocacy for refugees,

          8  asylum seekers, internally displaced persons, and

          9  victims of human trafficking.  In addition to our

         10  work in New York, we operate in more than 20

         11  countries internationally, and 20 community groups

         12  across the U.S.

         13                 H.R. 4437, passed in December of

         14  2005, takes a strong and focused endorsement

         15  approach, as referenced earlier.  In doing so, it

         16  includes provisions that would erode U.S. Leadership

         17  in international refugee protection, and make

         18  criminals out of persons in need of safe haven.

         19                 Among the most worrisome parts of the

         20  legislation is a provision that would make criminals

         21  out of persons who are in the U.S. Without legal

         22  status.  The bill treats all such persons as

         23  unwanted, and potentially dangerous, ignoring U.S.

         24  Legal precedent, international treaty obligations,

         25  and our centuries- old tradition of rescuing people
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          2  fleeing oppression and persecution.  A tradition

          3  from which many Americans or their ancestors have

          4  benefited, and in which all of us should take great

          5  pride.

          6                 According to our partner agency, the

          7  Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children,

          8  the bill would have serious life and death

          9  consequences for women and children who are escaping

         10  rape, female genital mutilation, trafficking,

         11  recruitment as child soldiers, and other forms of

         12  age and gender- related persecution.

         13                 My full written testimony has been

         14  submitted for the record, and provides the Council

         15  Members with much greater detail regarding IRC's

         16  concerns with specific provisions of the Border

         17  Protection, Anti-terrorism, and Illegal Immigration

         18  Control Act of 2005.

         19                 Let me briefly focus on Section 202,

         20  which expands the current smuggling provisions,

         21  branding Americans providing humanitarian assistance

         22  as criminals.  I would like to provide briefly,

         23  three examples of how humanitarian and social

         24  service agencies could be affected.

         25                 For example one, the International
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          2  Rescue Committee assisted Katrina evacuees across

          3  the U.S., the victims of the hurricane frequently

          4  had lost all their possessions, including documents

          5  that would have demonstrated their immigration

          6  status. If IRC provided such assistance without

          7  verifying the recipients status, our staff would

          8  face criminal prosecution.

          9                 Example two.  The IRC frequently

         10  advises individuals regarding their eligibility for

         11  certain immigration benefits and protections.  If

         12  IRC staff suggests that someone might have grounds

         13  for political asylum, this will be treated as a

         14  criminal act.

         15                 Example three.  IRC partners with the

         16  Department of Justice and the Department of Health

         17  and Human Services, Office of Refugee Resettlement

         18  to assist and provide services to victims of human

         19  trafficking, many of whom are undocumented.  Under

         20  this legislation, if we needed to get these people

         21  to medical attention, or a shelter, we would be

         22  prosecuted for alien smuggling.

         23                 IRC Board member and a refugee from

         24  Hungary, who was resettled by our organization in

         25  New York City in 1956, Andrew Grove, who was the
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          2  founder and Chairman of the Intel Corporation,

          3  recently discussed this provision in OpEd which was

          4  published in the Wall Street Journal.  He said,

          5   "This could change the nature of our society in a

          6  way that I have seen first hand.  As a Jewish child,

          7  hiding from the Nazis in Hungary, I saw how the

          8  persecution of non- Jewish Hungarians who hid their

          9  Jewish friends or neighbors, cast a wide blanket of

         10  fear over everyone.  This fear led to mistrust, and

         11  mistrust led to hostility, until neighbors turned

         12  upon neighbors, in order to protect themselves.  Is

         13  this what we want?"

         14                 Some might suggest that we are over

         15  anxious as to how the law might be read.  But

         16  experience has taught us to watch proposed

         17  legislation vigilantly and ask questions loudly.

         18                 I will leave you today an LA Times

         19  OpEd which was published by this morning, written by

         20  IRC's president, George Rupp, which discusses how

         21  the U.S. Patriot Act, and the Real Idea Act has

         22  mislabeled many refugees as terrorists.  As you are

         23  aware, the Senate Judiciary Committee approved a

         24  bill sponsored by Committee Chair Arlin Spechter,

         25  this past Monday.  Either this bill, or an
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          2  immigration bill sponsored by Senator Frist will

          3  soon be on the Senate floor.  Bipartisan support

          4  will significantly improve the original bill, we

          5  hope, but we still have concerns over the

          6  legislation, the process.  Whatever immigration bill

          7  is eventually approved, it must be free of all

          8  provisions that would harm refugees, asylum seekers,

          9  victims of human trafficking, or those who seek to

         10  help them.

         11                 In March 7 letter to the Senate

         12  Judiciary Committee, more than 40 members of the IRC

         13  Board implored the members of the Senate Judiciary

         14  Committee to support comprehensive reform.  The IRC

         15  Board stated that such reform must provide realistic

         16  avenue for family reunification, and the flexibility

         17  to address future labor needs.  While also offering

         18  meaningful status to the undocumented to draw them

         19  out of the shadows, and ensure that those who are

         20  fleeing persecution can qualify for refugee status

         21  in our country. Community groups across the country

         22  have been, and will continue to speak out on the

         23  issue of immigration reform, and the actions of

         24  elected officials in Washington.  New York voices

         25  have been prominent.  New York City and its boroughs
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          2  are a testament to the thousands of immigrants who

          3  built them.  Each of us here today would be remiss

          4  if we did not speak out in support of that heritage,

          5  our heritage.

          6                 We urge the Council to strongly

          7  oppose H.R. 4437 and any similar legislation that

          8  would contravene our proud U.S. Tradition of

          9  offering safe haven to the persecuted and oppressed.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.  Is

         12  there any questions to submit?  We  have been joined

         13  by Council Member Darlene Mealy, from Brooklyn.

         14                 Our next witness is Bruce DeCell.

         15  Followed by  -- we will have maybe you can have  --

         16  Michael Cutler.   Would you please state your names

         17  and  --

         18                 MR. CUTLER: My name is Michael

         19  Cutler, and I want you to know that I greatly

         20  appreciate the opportunity to speak to you today.

         21                 I'm an advisor to the 9- 11 Families

         22  for Secure America.  I'm also a Fellow at the Center

         23  for Immigration Studies, and a contributing expert

         24  on the Counter- terrorism Blog.  I do all of these

         25  things without remuneration.  I am simply motivated
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          2  by a desire to strengthen our nation, especially as

          3  we wager war on terrorism, and confront various

          4  criminal organizations.

          5                 I speak from a position of

          6  experience.  I was a Senior Special Agent of the INS

          7  here in New York when I left that agency in 2002,

          8  having been an immigration officer for some 30

          9  years.  I also testified at nine Congressional

         10  hearings for both political parties, and I have

         11  provided testimony to the Presidential Commission,

         12  pardon me, of the Attacks of September 11th.  I

         13  spent at least half of my career pursuing criminal

         14  investigations of major narcotics trafficking

         15  organizations, and I've also been involved in the

         16  investigation and apprehension of a number of

         17  terrorists, from a variety of countries, who had

         18  been present in the United States.

         19                 I am here to tell you today that a

         20  country without secure borders can no more stand

         21  than can a house without walls.  The security of our

         22  nation's borders must be a priority, if we are to

         23  protect our nation from future terrorist attacks.

         24  The reality is that ports of entry, such as

         25  airports, should be thought of as an extension of
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          2  the border.  Any state that has an international

          3  airport or a seaport, is in fact, a border state.

          4  Consequently, the goal of achieving secure borders

          5  for our nation cannot be accomplished purely by

          6  increasing resources along our nation's borders,

          7  while though such an increase is necessary.

          8                 It's been estimated that more than 40

          9  percent of all illegal aliens present in the United

         10  States did not simply run our nation's borders and

         11  evade the inspections process.  These aliens were,

         12  in fact, were inspected, and went on to violate our

         13  immigration laws.  It should be noted that the 19

         14  terrorists who so savagely attacked our nation on

         15  September 11, 2001, entered the United States

         16  through ports of entry and managed to hide in plain

         17  sight as they prepared to launch their attacks

         18  against us.  They managed to procure a large number

         19  of identity documents in a variety of names.  Some

         20  of these documents were authentic documents, while

         21  others were counterfeit.  In all, they had some 364

         22  false identity documents that they used to carry out

         23  the deceptions which facilitated their attacks.

         24                 We all know that the immigration

         25  system is broken, and has been for quite some time.
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          2  This has resulted in the greatest influx of illegal

          3  aliens in the history of our nation.  We need to

          4  address this crisis, but a guest worker amnesty

          5  program, in my judgement, will simply exacerbate the

          6  problem, and not solve it.              I would

          7  concisely tell you I hold this belief, having worked

          8  for the former INS, when the first amnesty of 1986

          9  was implemented.  I fear that terrorists and

         10  international criminals will be able to blend in

         11  with the millions of illegal aliens who would show

         12  up at immigration offices around the country seeking

         13  to participate in a guest worker program should such

         14  a program be implemented.  By claiming to be

         15  undocumented aliens, they would not have to show any

         16  identity documents, and could provide the

         17  beleaguered bureaucrats at USCIS, the division of

         18  DHS, that would administer this program, with false

         19  names and succeed in getting official identity

         20  documents issued to them, in a false name.  They

         21  could easily use these documents as so- called

         22  breeder documents, enabling them to obtain driver's

         23  licenses, social security cards, bank accounts, and

         24  other such documentation and alternative identities.

         25    This would enable a terrorist to circumvent "No
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          2  Fly" and other watch lists to enable them to travel

          3  freely across our nation's borders, travel freely

          4  around our nation, and even gain access to secure

          5  venues such as airports, airliners, trains, and

          6  sensitive buildings.

          7                 Under these circumstances, all watch

          8  lists will be rendered obsolete and worthless, not a

          9  good situation, considering the continuing threat of

         10  terrorism under which we live.

         11                 Additionally, if we are unable to

         12  remove the millions of illegal aliens who are

         13  currently in the United States today, there's no way

         14  that such a guest worker program could be policed.

         15  Nor could we get those who would participate in this

         16  program to leave temporary employment once their

         17  time was up.

         18                 As Tamar Jacoby, a senior fellow at

         19  the Manhattan Institution, and a long- time and

         20  vociferous proponent of open borders has stated in

         21  an OpEd article that was published in the Washington

         22  Post this past weekend, "There is nothing more

         23  permanent than a temporary worker".

         24                 I'm also concerned that while various

         25  proposals for a guest worker program would require
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          2  that the aliens who would participate in such a

          3  program would have to prove that they entered the

          4  United States a number of years ago, while it would

          5  be as difficult or impossible to show when they got

          6  here, as who they are.  Basically, this would amount

          7  to an open invitation to the world for people to

          8  come here and participate in the program.

          9                 When I testified before Congress with

         10  T.J. Bonner, the president of the Border Patrol

         11  Union a while back, he stated that when the

         12  President publicly speculated about implementing a

         13  guest worker program, the very next day, the number

         14  of illegal entrants along the Mexican border soared

         15  dramatically.  A guest worker program would serve to

         16  encourage more illegal immigration, and not help to

         17  solve the crisis that we're facing today.

         18                 I believe that we also need to dispel

         19  the myth that illegal aliens do the work that

         20  Americans won't do.  As long as there are citizens

         21  of this great nation who will toil daily in coal

         22  mines and steel foundries, as long as there are

         23  Americans who will drive garbage trucks and hop on

         24  the back of a fire engine, then there isn't a job

         25  that an American won't take for the proper working
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          2  wage.

          3                 The bottom line is this, though.

          4  When I hear people say that we've tried to do

          5  enforcement, and enforcement doesn't work, I can

          6  tell you that we've only tried to give a poor

          7  illusion of trying enforcement.  The City of New

          8  York is the safest big city in the United States.

          9  We have eight million residents, and about 37,000

         10  police officers.  It is estimated that there may be

         11  anywhere from 12 million to 20 million illegal

         12  aliens currently present in the United States.

         13  There's only 2,000 special agents working for ISC to

         14  enforce the immigration laws throughout the United

         15  States of America.

         16                 And finally, I want to make it clear.

         17    I honor immigration and immigrants.  My mother was

         18  an immigrant.  I'm Jewish, I lost half my family to

         19  the Holocaust, I'm named for my grandmother who

         20  perished in the Holocaust.  If it wasn't for the

         21  generosity of this nation in admitting my mom, I

         22  wouldn't be here, my children wouldn't be here.

         23  There's a world of difference between a lawful

         24  admitted immigrant and a alien who violates the

         25  security of our borders.  The bottom line is, if
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          2  someone came through your back window in the dead of

          3  night, I don't believe you would offer that person a

          4  meal and a job.  I think you'd call the cops.  When

          5  people come here in accordance with law, we should

          6  protect them, we should encourage them.  We should

          7  do everything possible to welcome them.

          8                 My concern is that in a day and age

          9  when we fight a war on terrorism, and a war against

         10  violent gangs such as MS13, that we not disregard

         11  our borders, and endanger the safety and security of

         12  all Americans.  Thank you for your time.

         13                 MR. DE CELL: Good afternoon Mr.

         14  Chairman, members of the City Council, speakers and

         15  guests.  I would like to thank you for allowing me

         16  to speak to you this afternoon about the Border

         17  Protection, Anti-terrorism, and Illegal Immigration

         18  Control Act of 2005.

         19                 My name is Bruce De Cell, and I am

         20  here representing 9-11 Families for a Secure

         21  America.  9-11 FSA is an organization made up of

         22  family members of civilians and first responders

         23  murdered on September 11, 2001.  We came together as

         24  an organization some four years ago, to advocate for

         25  reforms directly related to the failures of a
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          2  government to protect our lived ones and all United

          3  States citizens from the horrific attacks that

          4  occurred on September 11th.

          5                 Let me take a minute to tell you the

          6  story of my family's personal loss we experienced on

          7  September 11th.  My son in- law Mark Petrocelli, who

          8  married my daughter Nicole two years and nine months

          9  before September 11th, was murdered on September 11,

         10  2001.  Mark was to me, the son I never had.  He was

         11  two days shy of his 29th birthday.  Mark was a kind

         12  an loving husband, a warm and funny young man, who

         13  was the life of the party, and the apple of his mom

         14  and dad' eye.  My daughter Nicole loved him with all

         15  her heart.  Their whole lives lay ahead of them.

         16                 I could go on and on about how

         17  wonderful Mark was to all who knew him.  Our family

         18  will never forget him, and we will always be

         19  diminished as a result of his murder.  We will miss

         20  him always.

         21                 In search for answers, we began to do

         22  research into the murderous attacks that took Mark

         23  and so many Americans from us. We were horrified to

         24  discover the many failures our elected officials to

         25  carry out and enforce the immigration laws that were
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          2  already on the books.  This lack of enforcement was

          3  accomplished by under- funding the manpower

          4  requirements needed in numerous aspects of

          5  investigative and administrative duties at the

          6  Immigration Service, placing undue burden on

          7  investigators, who are responsible to produce

          8  numbers of completed cases, placing little or no

          9  value on accuracy.

         10                 Fulfilling the stated missions of

         11  these laws and regulations to ensure our safety and

         12  security, was not then, and is not now, the

         13  priority.  Today, over four years after 9- 11, this

         14  is a major reason for the dysfunction of our

         15  immigration system. Elected officials in this

         16  country, from City Councils to the President of the

         17  United States, have failed to uphold their oath of

         18  office, to ensure the safety of its citizens, above

         19  their desire to gain monetary support for their

         20  reelection campaigns, by special interest groups and

         21  in this case specifically, the illegal immigration

         22  lobby.

         23                 This is a reality of how politicians

         24  are funded.  We have come to learn that most of our

         25  elected officials are the best that money can buy.
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          2  Prior to September 11th, security was always put on

          3  the back burner, to corporate special interests on

          4  the right, and radical left wing supporters of open

          5  borders, who view illegal aliens as possible voting

          6  blocks in their favor.

          7                 The average citizen has been unaware

          8  of this unholy alliance working against them, both

          9  naturalized citizens and legal immigrants in this

         10  country.  This negligence in our immigration

         11  enforcement played a big role in the events of

         12  September 11th.  And after that day, the American

         13  public, for the most part, woke up and now see that

         14  for decades, our elected officials, in their lust of

         15  votes and cheap labor in this economic global

         16  environment, have put our nation's security behind

         17  their agenda, for money and power.

         18                 This must change.  Perhaps it will

         19  change.  Because the majority of elected officials

         20  will develop a conscience, and in their common sense

         21  legislation to protect citizens who they purport to

         22  serve.  Well maybe ordinary citizens, who need to

         23  protect their families, will exercise their right to

         24  vote and vote out these unscrupulous officials.

         25                 On December 21, 2005, this City
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          2  Council passed a resolution, number 1009, which

          3  expressed opposition to the Real Idea Act of 2005.

          4  This action put the safety and security of New York

          5  City, and the nation in jeopardy.  The City Council

          6  then put the welfare of illegal aliens before the

          7  citizens who elected them.

          8                 The language the Council used in

          9  Resolution 109 was incorrect.  The Real Idea Act of

         10  2005 would not deny legal immigrants the privilege

         11  to obtain a driver's license, because legal

         12  immigrants can obtain a social security number of

         13  other documents necessary to fulfill the

         14  requirements under the Real Idea.  But it would deny

         15  illegal aliens and terrorists among them from

         16  getting state- issued ID.  Lest we forget, this is

         17  how the 9- 11 terrorists gained access to the planes

         18  they hijacked, killing the flight crews, and then

         19  flying them into the World Trade Center, Pentagon,

         20  and a field in Pennsylvania, killing near 3,000

         21  innocent people.

         22                 I hope the City Council has come to

         23  know the difference between legal immigrants and

         24  illegal aliens, and the terrorists among them, and

         25  does not make the same mistake twice. 9- 11 FSA
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          2  demand that you not support any amnesty for illegal

          3  aliens.  We demand in the strongest terms that you

          4  support the Border Protection, Anti-terrorism, and

          5  Illegal Immigration Control Act of 2005.

          6                 We must control our borders and

          7  enforce our internal immigration laws before there

          8  can be any integrity to the immigration system.  A

          9  Washington Times article on June 6, 2006, cited a

         10  GAO report of the United States Citizenship and

         11  Immigration Service, the agency that would be

         12  responsible for administering an amnesty.  It stated

         13  that our immigration system cannot function

         14  adequately.  There are huge backlogs in all areas of

         15  the immigration system, and fraud and corruption is

         16  rampant.  Our immigration service is less able to

         17  handle the volumes of illegal aliens immigrants

         18  coming to our country than they were in 1986.

         19                 We must look at the mistakes we made

         20  then, and learn from them, or we are destined to

         21  repeat history.  Can this City afford another

         22  terrorist attack?  By supporting any legislation

         23  that grants amnesty to millions of illegal aliens

         24  present in our City and nation, you will be doing

         25  just that, facilitating future terrorist attacks.
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          2                 By definition, an illegal alien is

          3  someone who's true identity is unknown.  The added

          4  pressure the immigration system received in 1986,

          5  when the then President Reagan instituted our

          6  nation's one time amnesty of approximately one and a

          7  half million illegal aliens, it turned out to be

          8  more than three million, due to massive fraud.

          9                 One of the first World Trade Center

         10  bombing participants was a Middle Easterner, who was

         11  driving a New York City taxicab, and was given

         12  amnesty as a agricultural worker.

         13                 Another World Trade Center bombing

         14  participant applied for amnesty, but was denied, but

         15  never removed from our country.  Another lucky

         16  amnesty recipient was a terrorist who killed

         17  American citizens sitting in their cars outside of

         18  CIA Headquarters in Virginia.

         19                 Many violent people like this were

         20  given amnesty and the right to stay in our country

         21  in 1986, because our government did not have the

         22  political will to stand up for the security of

         23  American citizens.  Unbelievably, we have less

         24  political will today, due to the increasing and

         25  unending appetite for cheap labor.
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          2                 In a post 9- 11 world, there is no

          3  room in our nation for people who cannot be properly

          4  identified.  We can  --  who can be the judge of

          5  what a terrorist or a felon looks like?  From a

          6  person who just wants to work or go to school, or

          7  kill American?

          8                 It is past time that our governments

          9  put our safety and security before votes, money, or

         10  political pampering.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have  --  I

         13  heard you said that the folks who support immigrants

         14  and immigrants rights benefit from their potential

         15  votes.  The last time I heard, the last time I knew,

         16  non citizens cannot vote.  So I don't understand how

         17  you can draw that conclusion that when one

         18  politicians support or help immigrants that they're

         19  looking for votes.

         20                 MR. CUTLER: Well, it was their  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I didn't ask you

         22  to speak yet. I'll let you speak  --

         23                 MR. CUTLER: I thought you asked me a

         24  question.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'll let you
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          2  speak afterwards sir.  That's the first thing.  I

          3  don't think politicians, because they help

          4  immigrants are looking for votes.  Because the last

          5  time I knew the laws in this country, it's that non-

          6  citizens cannot vote.  So I take exception to that.

          7                 The other thing that I take exception

          8  to, is that the fact is, you've been referring to

          9  even folks who may overstay their time as illegal

         10  aliens.  As if they're coming from outer space.

         11  They might be immigrants who are undocumented, I

         12  understand, and they might be people who are here,

         13  overstay their time, and they might be others who

         14  may have come over here from Mexico, who are guest

         15  workers, or whatever, they're immigrants. And even

         16  if they stay over, they're not illegal aliens.  And

         17  your tone of your testimony is to the fact that they

         18  might have been in that category, that they're so

         19  different from us.

         20                 If we can recall, in our history,

         21  some of us came from England and came from other

         22  places.  We were dumped here.  We were not truly

         23  citizens here at that time.  We are considered

         24  immigrants.  Immigrants who may not, you know, who

         25  may  --  as a matter of fact, some time thereafter,
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          2  helped to build, with sweat and blood, this country.

          3    So just because we now have the rights, and we

          4  don't think about our forefathers, it doesn't mean

          5  that we should forget those who have just arrived

          6  and try to just label them as some foreign being

          7  from out of space.

          8                 And I take exception to that for the

          9  fact that in your entire testimony, all you're

         10  talking about is illegal aliens, as if they're so

         11  far different from us.  And I will call on Council

         12  Member Nelson, because he has something to say.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.  Some might say the fear factor has been

         15  invoked, but we'd be foolish if it wasn't.  You

         16  know, five years ago, just down the road a piece

         17  that affected the entire City and country.  We have

         18  to look into these aspects, and of course, the

         19  emotional testimony of a relative here, as well.

         20  But one thing I do find somewhat appalling is the

         21  comparison with the Holocaust, genocide survivors,

         22  or to people in Dafar today.  If we were going to

         23  hopefully, get as many that would like to come to

         24  this country into this country, before more and more

         25  are murdered in Africa today, as we speak.  That's
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          2  another issue.

          3                 There's a difference between somebody

          4  escaping death, and somebody coming in here to

          5  provide a better living for their family, which is a

          6  very noble experience, and should be, of course,

          7  entertained as well.  But there's a difference.  By

          8  the way, in the 30s and 40s, the federal government

          9  failed, kind of miserably, in allowing people to

         10  escape, number one was people likely to become a

         11  public charge.  Was one cry against the people

         12  fleeing Nazi Germany.  And when some agencies would

         13  come up with, well, we'll get them jobs.  Then the

         14  unions cried out likely to become a public charge

         15   --  I'm sorry, contract labor.  It was a Catch 22

         16  of the worst sort, but a different, different,

         17  different scenario.

         18                 Anyway, notwithstanding provisions of

         19  H.R. 4437, and Mr. Carey, who I greatly respect, and

         20  the IRC.  I greatly respect you and your

         21  organization.  And there is no doubt, provisions in

         22  H.R. 4437 which causes strong concern.  But I am

         23  also against the belief or theory, or whatever, that

         24  it's perfectly okay that illegal is legal.  It is

         25  not.  And we have to work out a way where illegal
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          2  can become legal.  What we have to look for, is a

          3  path to citizenship.  And that, after maybe a three

          4  year visa work program or something, is revisited,

          5  the safety of our country is extremely important, I

          6  think, to all of us.  No matter what side of this

          7  issue you're on.  And it is cliche- ish to say but

          8  it's true. Immigrants are vital to this country.

          9  Necessary.  It made this country great, to be

         10  cliche- ish, and it's worth going through a legal

         11  process to make illegals legal.  And not to just hit

         12  them over the head.

         13                 Anyway, I wanted to ask one group  --

         14    I may not be able to remain  --   but

         15  recommendations that would be made for  -- in

         16  respect to a path for citizenship that also

         17  addresses our growing border concerns.  That's what

         18  we have to get together on somehow.

         19                 I thank all of the people so far who

         20  have testified.

         21                 MR. CUTLER: Can I make one point,

         22  though, to the Chair?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes, I want Mr.

         24   --  You can go ahead.

         25                 MR. CUTLER: I just wanted to explain
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          2  to you something.  What you've said paints a picture

          3  of somebody who is being unreasonable or unfair, and

          4  I'm not.  The term "alien" is a legal term, as

          5  defined by the Immigration and Nationality Act, the

          6  body of law enforced by the employees of what used

          7  to be the INS, now it's CBP, Customs and Border

          8  Protection, and ICE, Immigration and Customs

          9  Enforcement.  An alien is defined statutorily under

         10  Section 101 of that act, as any person who is not a

         11  citizen or national of the United States.  Period.

         12  And in fact, I've arrested hundreds, or perhaps

         13  thousands of people, as an agent, who's only offense

         14  of law was to allow their visas to expire or to gain

         15  employment in the United States when they didn't

         16  have the appropriate visa.  So, to simply say, well,

         17  that's just a minor technicality, I could tell you

         18  that I've arrested quite a few people for violating

         19  those very laws, and I did so without any

         20  reservation.

         21                 So understand, we are a nation of

         22  law, but we have the right, in fact, we have the

         23  need, to make certain that those people within our

         24  borders are here in accordance with law.  And that's

         25  what this is about.  It's not about singling
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          2  somebody out because they're from the wrong country.

          3    The only wrong country is that they were citizens

          4  of other than the United States.  It was a simple

          5  matter.  You're either here legally, or you're here

          6  illegally.  Just as when you're driving your car.

          7  You either ran the red light, or you didn't run the

          8  red light.  And that's my response.  Thank you sir

          9  for your time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Anyway, in this

         11  slight conclusion to this  --

         12                 MR. CUTLER: Mr. Chair  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: At this time, I

         14  just want to recognize Council Member de Blasio.  I

         15  guess   --  he has joined us, and I guess he may

         16  just listen, or do you want to make a comment?

         17  Council Member de Blasio.

         18                 MR. CUTLER: Yes, I didn't finish.

         19  Mr. Chair, please.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DE BLASIO: I don't

         21  want to make a comment, I want to pass the baton

         22  back to Mr. Nelson, who I agree with.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         24  I'd like to see all of these illegal immigrants, who

         25  love this country, want to help this country, and
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          2  grow in this country, and help make this country as

          3  strong as all the previous immigrants have made it.

          4  I want them to achieve citizenship.  I just believe

          5  there needs to be a process to it.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Just a point.

          7  I think that here, there has to be the process that

          8  this government needs to deal with immigration.  But

          9  I think it's also important that you understand the

         10  history of immigration in America.  And the history

         11  of immigration in America, in order to be an

         12  American citizen historically in America, that you

         13  had to be a white male.  In America.  And that

         14  didn't include either one of you at the table.     So

         15  there were provisions that were made that allowed

         16  you.  But historically, in this country, in order

         17   --  and the definition of who was a white male to

         18  be a citizen, did not include you and your family

         19  when they came here to this country.  I want to be

         20  very clear about that.  The laws of immigration, the

         21  history and the courts decisions historically that

         22  was made.  And so, roaming around, as you

         23  historically families existed, you were not American

         24  citizens coming in here in the beginning.  And who

         25  it was historically because it was exclusively  --
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          2  and the courts defined what was a white male, and it

          3  wasn't either of you two guys at this table.  And

          4  the struggle and how coming to America as immigrants

          5  made it and allowed the opportunity for you all to

          6  become American citizens after the courts, but it

          7  wasn't because you were not classified, because

          8  historically, it was related that you were

          9  considered a separate race.  And not white in

         10  America.

         11                 So I think that if you look at

         12  historically of immigration in America, how the

         13  Irish, and everybody couldn't be, until later.  And

         14  allowed to come in.  And so, we need to understand

         15  when we're talking about people coming to America.

         16  Because the only other group that came to America

         17  that by constitutional amendment that allowed them

         18  citizenship was freed slaves in America.  So

         19  everybody else  --  and that was defined as either

         20  white or a freed slave.  Nobody at the table is

         21  sitting there.  So we need to understand that these

         22  are people that's talking about coming to America as

         23  a better way of life.  And doing what has to be

         24  done.

         25                 Secondly, if you look at
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          2  historically, the second largest terrorist act in

          3  America happened by an American citizen named

          4  Timothy McVeigh, who served in the United States

          5  Army, in America.  That was there.  A United States

          6  citizen against American citizens here in America.

          7  So to say that these people are terrorists, there

          8  haven't been any terrorists from Mexico that's

          9  coming into the borders that have done any of these

         10  things.  That have committed any acts on  --  the

         11  only thing is that they're taking job that people

         12  would not normally take.  And I agree with your

         13  point that if we paid more salaries, that would be,

         14  but let's state it historically, from the point of

         15  view of people exploiting people in terms of labor,

         16  not providing them with opportunities. That's the

         17  issue.

         18                 But I think that we need to

         19  understand immigration in America.  And what it

         20  meant.  And how it meant.  And so when we loosely

         21  say these words as "these people", guess what?  You

         22  were "these people".

         23                 MR. CUTLER:  Mr. Seabrook, may I just

         24  make a quick comment?  There have been many

         25  injustices committed  --  and I'm not here
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          2  advocating injustice.  Not at all.  But I also want

          3  to make the point that we've got a growing problem

          4  with what's known as OTMs on the Mexican border.

          5  Other than Mexican.  Last year, the number of

          6  apprehensions doubled by the Border Patrol to

          7  170,000 people who were other than Mexican citizens

          8  entering our country across the Mexican border.

          9                 The other point that I've made, is

         10  that we can't simply enforce the immigration laws by

         11  putting a wall on the border.  It' s a part of a

         12  good strategy, but if we don't do interior

         13  enforcement, if we don't eliminate the fraud, then I

         14  would call your attention to a GAO report that was

         15  published two weeks ago, March 10th, at the request

         16  of the Judiciary Committee.  It showed that there is

         17  rampant fraud throughout the Immigrations Benefits

         18  program, and it's that same program that would have

         19  to administer any guest worker program.  My concern

         20  is that we need to have an immigration system that's

         21  orderly, that possesses integrity, and that's fair.

         22  And unless we have all of those in place, we can't

         23  possibly administer a guest worker program.  That's

         24  my concern.  My concern is terrorism.  And what

         25  you've said about Timothy McVeigh, you're right.
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          2  But I will tell you that I lost both of my parents

          3  to cancer when I was in college, I have cancer. My

          4  first wife died of cancer.  But I'm not going to

          5  say, let's ignore heart disease because I've had

          6  personal tragedies because of cancer.

          7                 Yes, there are Americans who commit

          8  heinous crimes. There's also aliens who commit

          9  terrible crimes.  Thirty percent of the federal

         10  inmate population is comprised of aliens.  When I

         11  was assigned to the Unified Intelligence Division at

         12  DEA, I conducted a study of arrests, and found that

         13  in New York, 60 percent of the people arrested by

         14  the DEA for narcotics trafficking were identified as

         15  foreign born.  It doesn't mean that all aliens are

         16  bad guys.  What it also means, though, is that it's

         17  time for our country to take the Vincente Fox to

         18  task.  His country is one of the wealthiest in this

         19  hemisphere, yet his people are forced to come here

         20  by his oppressive government and his oppressive

         21  economic system, because he's looking for money to

         22  go back into Mexico.  His people are now the biggest

         23  and most lucrative export that he has. Last year,

         24  $20 billion was wired back to Mexico by illegal

         25  Mexicans toiling in terrible conditions in this
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          2  country.  That's not acceptable.

          3                 So there's a lot of issues we could

          4  talk about.  And there's a lot of issues about

          5  fairness, and equitability, and all those other

          6  facets that we need to address.  But it has to start

          7  with a country that has an orderly, effective system

          8  that deals with immigration, that deals with border

          9  security.  I don't want to see any more attacks.

         10  And there have been other attacks in this country.

         11  And we don't seem to learn the lessons.

         12                 And I fear that the reason that most

         13  people don't remember what February 26, 1993 was,

         14  and in case you don't remember that date, that was

         15  the first attack.  Because of the way it was

         16  eclipsed on 9- 11.  What keeps me awake at night and

         17  the reason I do this at great expense to me, and I

         18  don't get paid for any of this, is I fear what might

         19  eclipse 9- 11.  Thank you for your time, sir.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: Well, I just

         21  want you to know, again, I think that understanding

         22  immigration, understanding the history of this

         23  nation, of Mexico, what took place.  Because at one

         24  point, California and other places was Mexico.  So

         25  when we look and understand the historical dynamics
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          2  of all of this, it all has to take place in its

          3  context of what we're talking.  There's never been

          4  fair immigration policies in America.  It doesn't

          5  exist.  So what I'm saying is that there has to be a

          6  way of dealing with this. But the way of dealing

          7  with it is not putting all of this burden and saying

          8  that it's the Mexicans.  Because it is not.  I

          9  didn't say you said it, but your projection of

         10  saying about the President of Mexico and that's the

         11  only reference that you had, there's a large

         12  population from Ireland you didn't talk about.

         13  There's other populations you didn't talk about.

         14                 Well  --

         15                 MR. CUTLER: I'm sorry about that.

         16  The reason I did that was because of two things.

         17  Number one, more illegal aliens are present in our

         18  country from Mexico and we share a huge border with

         19  the Mexican government.

         20                 And we've also found the comic books

         21  that were prepared by the Mexican government that

         22  acted as a how- to guide for would- be people that

         23  wanted to come here.  What I'm saying is, it's time

         24  that Mexico treated their own people fairly and

         25  equitably. There's no reason not to.
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          2                 And if you look at the Mexican

          3  constitution, you can't even work as a mechanic on a

          4  ship flying the Mexican flag unless you're a native

          5  born Mexican citizen.  It's not enough that you

          6  naturalize.  I'm not asking us to do that.  I

          7  wouldn't want to live in a country like that.

          8  That's why I'm here.  All I'm saying is we need to

          9  be sensible.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I understand

         11  your level of saying that, but I also hope that you

         12  will broaden your perspective of understanding of

         13  the issue of immigration and the issue of terrorism

         14  in America.  In a period of ten years in America,

         15  2,600 African Americans were lynched.  That's

         16  terrorism by a terrorist group in America.

         17                 MR. CUTLER: Absolutely.  I don't want

         18  to argue with you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: I didn't hear

         20  you talk about that.  And the KKK is in existence.

         21  In America.

         22                 MR. CUTLER: But that isn't one of the

         23  provisions of the bill we're discussing.  We could

         24  certainly broaden the discussion.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: But that's

                                                            71

          1  COMMITTEES ON IMMIGRATION AND CIVIL RIGHTS

          2  terrorism.

          3                 MR. CUTLER: No argument.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: In America.  By

          5  Americans.

          6                 MR. CUTLER: Sir, anti-Semitism runs

          7  rampant in parts of this country.  I'm not going to

          8  argue against what you're saying.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: In America.

         10                 MR. CUTLER: But that's not addressed

         11  by this bill, and I was trying to limit my remarks

         12  to that piece of legislation.

         13  Not all the injustices.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: No, because

         15  part of what you're saying has to be taken in

         16  context with the historical perspective of what

         17  we're dealing with.  I understand what you're

         18  saying.  And nobody is more for security in America

         19  than I.  I understand that.  But I'm saying that

         20  just as I understand.  I empathize with what you're

         21  saying, but you have to understand the historical

         22  dynamics of immigration in America.

         23                 MR. CUTLER: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEABROOK: And understand

         25  all of that so that when we cast dispersions on
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          2  people we must look at ourselves because we were not

          3  called white.  And you at the table certainly was

          4  not called white, and couldn't be an American

          5  citizen in America.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just want to

          7  go back to an issue that seemed to be  --  I don't

          8  think you get my point when I said a while ago that

          9  you're referring to illegal aliens.  When you --  in

         10  your testimony, when you talk about that you're an

         11  immigrant, you talk about immigrant.  Or folks who

         12  come in.  But when you speak about other issues like

         13  to deal with the  Mexican, you say illegal aliens.

         14  As if they're coming from outer space. The point I'm

         15  trying to make here is that, you know, no matter

         16  where you come from, no matter where you come from,

         17  if you are not naturalized, you're considered a non-

         18  documented immigrant.

         19                 MR. CUTLER: No sir.  If you have a

         20  green card, you have a document.  That's the green

         21  card.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: No, I'm saying

         23  no matter where you come from, if you're not

         24  documented, if you're not citizen, or if you do not

         25  have green card, you are considered a non-
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          2  documented immigrant.  Whether you over- stayed your

          3  time, or whether you have come across the border

          4  without documentation, or whatever it is. But you're

          5  not from outer space.

          6                 MR. CUTLER: No sir. Please let me --

          7  I have to say this and then I need to leave.  I have

          8  to do an interview.  I just want to make one point.

          9  I'm not saying you're from outer space. I'm simply

         10  using the statutory definition of the term alien.

         11  And when we go to other countries, whether it's

         12  Mexico, or Canada, or Europe, and I've been to

         13  countries in Europe, they've referred to me as an

         14  alien.  It doesn't constitute a pejorative.  It

         15  doesn't mean you're foolish, or immoral, or stupid.

         16  It simply means you're not a citizen of the country

         17  in which you're standing.  And that's the context in

         18  which I used the term.  And it's a legal term.  And

         19  it's the term that we used on the documentation that

         20  we would serve upon an individual who was an alien,

         21  in violation of our laws, when we were putting them

         22  before an immigration judge.  The term that we used

         23  was alien.

         24                 Now when you say  undocumented,

         25  you're saying somebody without documents.  If
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          2  someone had a passport with an expired visa, we

          3  wouldn't consider them to be an undocumented alien,

          4  they'd be an alien who violated the terms of his

          5  entry.

          6                 So there's a world of difference.

          7  And by  --  I think it's important that we have the

          8  nomenclature down, because if we keep saying

          9  immigrant we obscure the issue.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Could you

         11  explain to me what's the difference between illegal

         12  alien and alien.

         13                 MR. CUTLER: Sure.  And illegal alien

         14  is somebody who, in one way or another, either at

         15  time of entry or subsequent to entry has violated

         16  the terms of his or her entry into our country.

         17  Whereas an alien is a person who might be here as a

         18  student, might be here as visitor, but does not have

         19  United States citizenship.  In fact, the green card,

         20  so called, is referred to a Resident Alien.  The

         21  term alien is on that document as well.

         22                 So understand, the term alien isn't a

         23  pejorative. It just connotes that the person is not

         24  a citizen of this country. Any person not a citizen

         25  or national, is an alien by law.
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          2                 And I'm sorry to have to leave.  But

          3  thank you so much for your time gentlemen.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

          5                 Our next panel, we have Charles Hunt,

          6  from the Restaurant  --  New York State Restaurant

          7  Association.  And we have Amy Traub and Elana

          8  Levine, the Drum Major Institute for Publication.

          9                 Could you just identify yourself and

         10  begin please.

         11                 MR. HUNT: Good afternoon.  My name is

         12  Charles Hunt. And I wish to thank Chairman Stewart

         13  and Chairman Seabrook and their Committees for an

         14  opportunity to comment on the House of

         15  Representative's bill H.R. 4437.  And the current

         16  legislation being considered in the Congress

         17  regarding immigration reform.

         18                 I am the Executive Vice President of

         19  the Greater New York City Chapters of the New York

         20  State Restaurant Association. And I am here today on

         21  behalf of the restaurants, food service

         22  establishments, clubs, bars, and taverns represented

         23  by our Association here in New York City and across

         24  the State, to speak in favor of Resolution 193.

         25                 The restaurant industry is expected
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          2  to create more than 1.8 million new jobs by 2015, a

          3  15 percent increase from 2005, according to the

          4  National Restaurant Association research. However,

          5  the U.S. Labor force is expected to grow just 12

          6  percent in the next ten years, making it more

          7  challenging for restaurants to find the workers they

          8  need.  As you are all well aware, the restaurant,

          9  bar, hospitality industry here in New York City is a

         10  major element of the City's economy.

         11                 H.R. 4437, the Border Protection,

         12  Anti- terrorism, and Illegal Immigration Control Act

         13  of 2005 falls far short of true comprehensive

         14  immigration reform.  This legislation passed by the

         15  House of Representatives, would impose increased

         16  penalties on employers, which would lead to hefty

         17  fines and potential jail time for any violations.

         18  Any employers, regardless of company size, found in

         19  violation of the stated mandate, would be subject to

         20  an uncapped penalty of no less than $5,000 per

         21  undocumented worker. No less than $10,000 for a

         22  second offense of this.  And no less than $25,000

         23  per undocumented worker for a third offense.

         24                 Simple I- 9 paperwork mistakes could

         25  result in a massive monetary fine and a year in
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          2  prison.  Employers would be forced to confirm the

          3  documentation of every employee, not only new hires,

          4  through a new and unproven governmental database.

          5  One study of a pilot program found the system

          6  inaccurate and that it could not guarantee reliable

          7  and timely information.  Under 4437, any existing

          8  undocumented workers would be labeled felons,

          9  thereby forcing them from the country, and blocking

         10  any future return.

         11                 Employers and others who provide them

         12  assistance would also be punished as felons, as

         13  we've heard today from a legal expert.

         14                 This punitive and unworkable approach

         15  would have an extremely serious economic impact on

         16  our country, and discourage the undocumented from

         17  stepping forward.  Over the years, I have personally

         18  worked beside many of these workers, and they are

         19  reliable, hard- working people that show up for work

         20  every day, pay taxes, and contribute to the

         21  country's economy.  They are by no means felons,

         22  drug dealers, or criminals.  They are individuals,

         23  and families seeking a better life.  They deserve

         24  better than our current broken immigration system.

         25                 Any fair and balanced proposal for
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          2  immigration reform must provide for increased

          3  national security and control of our nation's

          4  borders.  Not only with Mexico, but also with

          5  Canada. It must create an efficient guest worker

          6  program that allows employers to recruit immigrant

          7  workers when there is a shortage of domestic

          8  workers.  It must provide a workable system for

          9  qualified, screened, undocumented workers, now in

         10  the country, to obtain legal status that allows them

         11  to continue to work.

         12                 All three of these elements should be

         13  merged into one bipartisan initiative.  The recent

         14  legislation approved by the U.S. Senate Judiciary

         15  Committee is a step in the right direction, which

         16  would give employers the tools they need to hire a

         17  legal workforce, and would create a workable and

         18  realistic solution to the as many as 12 million

         19  undocumented workers in this country, including the

         20  estimated, by our Mayor, of over 500,000 right here

         21  in New York City.

         22                 It is our hope that as debate

         23  continues, as we speak, in the Senate, that the

         24  concerns being voiced today will be addressed.  To

         25  that end, we urge the New York City Council, and
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          2  support their resolution, a bipartisan and balanced

          3  immigration reform that would protect our nation,

          4  while providing a path towards legal status, and

          5  eventual citizenship for the hard working, honest,

          6  and reliable members of our diverse communities and

          7  their families that are currently forced to remain

          8  in the shadows, due to our current dysfunctional

          9  immigration system.

         10                 Thank you.  How's that for right on

         11  five minutes?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Very good.  Just

         13  on time.

         14                 Could you identify yourself and begin

         15  please.

         16                 MS. TRAUB: Yes.  My name is Amy

         17  Traub.  I'm the Research Director for the Drum Major

         18  Institute for Public Policy, DMI, a nonpartisan,

         19  multi- issue think tank here in New York City. I

         20  want to thank the Immigration and Civil Rights

         21  Committees for this opportunity to present testimony

         22  against H.R. 4437.  And in favor of your resolution.

         23                 There are a lot of people here in

         24  this room who work every day in immigrant

         25  communities.  And can speak more profoundly about
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          2  the devastating consequences H.R. 4437 would have on

          3  immigrants and the people who assist them than I

          4  can.

          5                 DMI is not an immigrant advocacy

          6  organization.  And we're not a direct service

          7  organization.  We come to this legislation from a

          8  very different perspective.  For a number of years,

          9  DMI has analyzed policy from the point of view of

         10  the majority of Americans who are middle class or

         11  aspire to a middle class standard of living.  As we

         12  see it, this is more than an income bracket.  Being

         13  middle class means having a stable job that enables

         14  you to support a family, having the opportunity to

         15  own a home, access to health care, retirement

         16  security, opportunities to save for the future, and

         17  the ability to provide a good education, including a

         18  college education for one's children.

         19                 The point of view of immigrants and

         20  immigrant advocates is vitally important.  And it's

         21  well represented here today.  But I'm here to talk

         22  about immigration policy from the point of view of

         23  what will strengthen the American middle class, and

         24  expand it to include more working people.

         25                 The estimated 12 million undocumented
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          2  immigrants currently living in the United States,

          3  contribute to the U.S. Economy and share a labor

          4  market with citizens and with authorized immigrants.

          5    Undocumented immigrants have an impact on

          6  American's ability to hold onto a middle class

          7  standard of living, and to achieve it in the first

          8  place.

          9                 From the point of view of American's

         10  ability to achieve and hold onto a middle class

         11  standard of living, the Border Protection, Anti-

         12  terrorism, and Illegal Immigration Control Act would

         13  be a disaster.  We must first look at the

         14  contribution that immigrants, including undocumented

         15  immigrants, makes the U.S. Economy as workers,

         16  entrepreneurs, taxpayers, and consumers.  These

         17  contributions are significant.  The American middle

         18  class relies on immigrants, yet H.R. 4437 does

         19  nothing to strengthen or even acknowledge

         20  immigrants' contributions.  And in fact, it

         21  criminalizes the presence of undocumented workers in

         22  this country for the first time in U.S. History.

         23                 A policy of deporting 12 million

         24  people is clearly going to undermine their economic

         25  contribution to the country.  And that's going to
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          2  hurt the middle class.

          3                 The first basic observation is that

          4  the middle class relies on the goods and services

          5  that immigrants produce.  In this very direct sense,

          6  the American middle class relies on the labor of

          7  immigrants.  H.R. 4437 aims to yank out that pillar

          8  of the economy.

          9                 Beyond their direct service, however,

         10  immigrant, including undocumented workers, play a

         11  critical role in the economy.  The Social Security

         12  System is a mainstay of the middle class.  Since

         13  immigrants tend to be younger than the U.S.

         14  Population as a whole, they help to shore up the

         15  solvency of Social Security.  A study by the

         16  National Academy of Sciences suggested that over

         17  time, immigrants and their offspring pay more in

         18  Social Security and other taxes than they ever

         19  receive in government services.  Their a net gain to

         20  the economy.  These are benefits that would be

         21  diminished if H.R. 4437 became law, and we try to

         22  expel undocumented immigrants from the country.

         23                 The middle class benefits from the

         24  economic growth that immigrant workers stimulate.

         25  Immigrant consumers increase economic demand for
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          2  their goods and services, that middle class and

          3  aspiring middle class workers make.  That's an

          4  economic stimulus that benefits the middle class.

          5  Another one threatened by H.R. 4437.

          6                 There's also another crucial way that

          7  immigration policy impacts the middle class.  A

          8  situation that's not good now, and would be

          9  dramatically worsened by the passage of H.R. 4437.

         10  The fact is, right now, undocumented workers can't

         11  effectively stand up for themselves in the

         12  workplace.  Employers can threaten to deport them if

         13  they demand the minimum wage, ask for the overtime

         14  pay they're legally owed, or request proper safety

         15  equipment.  That intimidation is powerful.

         16                 Living without regularized

         17  immigration status means living in fear of

         18  deportation.  Being forced to accept substandard

         19  working conditions.  And these substandard

         20  conditions undermine workplace conditions for the

         21  middle class, and especially for workers aspiring to

         22  the middle class.

         23                 Let me elaborate on that for a

         24  moment, before I explain why H.R. 4437 would make

         25  this situation so much worse.  I see I'm really
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          2  running out of time.  So, let me try to wrap it up

          3  as quickly as I can.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you can wrap

          5  in summary, I'll give you another 30 seconds to do

          6  that.

          7                 MS. TRAUB: H.R. 4437, the Border

          8  Protection, Anti terrorism, and Illegal Immigration

          9  Control Act would make undocumented workers more

         10  vulnerable still.  This is a bill that turns vital

         11  participants in or economy into criminals.  I said

         12  earlier, that I didn't think it was  --  or I didn't

         13  say it, but I meant to  --  that I didn't think it

         14  was possible or desirable to actually deport

         15  undocumented workers as this bill aims to do, but in

         16  the effort to do so, H.R. 4437 would effectively

         17  drive undocumented workers further underground,

         18  further into the shadows. It would make the

         19  consequences of being turned in by an employer even

         20  more severe, including jail time.  It would reduce

         21  the chances that undocumented workers would come

         22  forward with a back pay claim, go to OSHA to report

         23  dangerous workplace conditions.  In other words, it

         24  would tend to drive standards for undocumented

         25  workers still further, and undermine the ability of
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          2  aspiring middle class workers to improve their own

          3  lot in life.

          4                 Many people here will tell you that

          5  this bill is bad for immigrants, and bad for the

          6  people who work to help them.  I'm here to tell you

          7  it's also bad for middle class New Yorkers and

          8  Americans.  I urge you to pass resolution 193,

          9  expressing New York City's opposition to this bill.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Now, I have a

         11  question. Assuming that we come up with some sort of

         12  solution to resolve the impasse that we have right

         13  now, what are the three major things that you think

         14  that we need to do, because of the fact that you

         15  will have critics who are saying that, listen, we

         16  give due amnesty now, the same thing will happen in

         17  another ten years from now, we will be in the same

         18  situation ten years from now.  How do you explain

         19  that?  And can you give me three or four definite

         20  things that we need to do as a solution?

         21                 MR. HUNT: I'd like to say that I

         22  think it's important for us all to realize that this

         23  bill is not amnesty.  And the bills that have been

         24  proposed in the Senate, including the McCain

         25  Kennedy, is not amnesty.  The McCain Kennedy bill
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          2  calls for a procedure that would even include a

          3  penalty, a monetary penalty that people would have

          4  to pay in order to get into the path towards legal

          5  status, and ultimate citizenship.  It also requires

          6  that they learn to speak English.  There are some

          7  rather stringent conditions, so I don't think you

          8  can call this amnesty.  I think you can call this an

          9  orderly and fair procedure to make it possible for

         10  these people  --  I don't agree with my colleagues

         11  statement about driving the working conditions down,

         12  because employers take it advantage of these people.

         13    Not in our industry they don't. We're so happy to

         14  have them, that they're paid well.  Certainly they

         15  start at a base rate, but once they've proven

         16  themselves, and most of them do, they certainly get

         17  right up there with the other employees that are

         18  doing the same jobs.  And why would an employer turn

         19  in an illegal employee if they're doing their job

         20  properly?

         21                 MS. TRAUB: They might turn them in if

         22  they were trying to organize a union.

         23                 MR. HUNT: I don't think you'll find

         24  that to be the case.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I understand
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          2  fully what you're saying, but I am looking at a

          3  critic who will say, listen, what do --  what would

          4  you tell the critic who says, basically, yes, they

          5  pay a fine, we allow them to become documented in

          6  some time in whatever years, and all of those things

          7  are being put in place, based on the fact that we

          8  fall in the McCain Kennedy bill, or even this one

          9  that they just approved.  What do you see that we

         10  need to do so that in the next ten years from now,

         11  we are not sitting in the same place and saying,

         12  listen, we have a number of undocumented folks who

         13  are here and we find out we are in the same

         14  situation that we have this critic.

         15                 MR. HUNT: Well, the McCain Kennedy

         16  also provides for stricter control of our borders.

         17  And once a program was set up that could establish

         18  an orderly way for the people that are already here

         19  to be processed, then we would enforce a process for

         20  people that want to come here, and not let them come

         21  in illegally, but let them come in under an orderly

         22  system.

         23                 MS. TRAUB: I agree with that.  What

         24  we need is a system going into the future where

         25  people who are coming to the United States, who want
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          2  to come to the United States to work, have an option

          3  to come here legally.  And if there's an option to

          4  come here legally, and it's workable, then people

          5  won't be coming illegally any more.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: There's an

          7  option right now. But the option is not a very good

          8  option.    --

          9                 MS. TRAUB: Well, there's not enough

         10  opportunity.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: There's not

         12  enough opportunity to come, but the question still

         13  remains, I am saying, what will take us out of the

         14  situation ten years from now to say well, listen, we

         15  don't have  --  because back in '86, the question

         16  was raised when we had a right on undocumented what

         17  should be done. And we raised the issue that there

         18  should be some sort of amnesty or something must be

         19  done.  But no one looked at other avenues as to say,

         20  well, listen, how you control the entry of

         21  undocumented or folks coming here across the border,

         22  or even coming here and staying and over- staying

         23  their time and things like that?

         24                 How do you handle that, because I'm

         25  seeing it, as the next ten years from now, even if
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          2  we do an amnesty now, that we might be in the same

          3  situation if we don't really put in better

          4  guidelines and better controls that will really deal

          5  with that situation.

          6                 MR. HUNT: I agree one hundred percent

          7  with what you're saying.  There has to be a system,

          8  once we deal with the problem that we have now, we

          9  have to have a system that allows people to make

         10  application to come here to work, to fill the needed

         11  jobs that employers have.  I believe Kennedy McCain

         12  also has a system where there has to be  --  the

         13  person has to be employed. Has to have a job in

         14  order to be able to stay here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.  I

         16  want to thank you for your testimony.

         17                 MS. TRAUB: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Our last panel

         19  is going to be Amy Sugimori, Maggie Goldstein, and

         20  Hilary Snyder.

         21                 Is Maggie Goldstein still here?  How

         22  about Amy Sugimori left.  All right, if you could

         23  please identify yourself, and begin.

         24                 MS. SEO: Thank you.  Thank you for

         25  this opportunity to address the City Council on this
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          2  very important issue.  My name is Hilary Seo.  I co-

          3  direct the Immigration Project at Sanctuary for

          4  Families.  And I'd like to add to the complexity of

          5  issues that we're considering today, the perspective

          6  of battered immigrant women.  And how the laws that

          7  are being debated right now, and the bill that got

          8  passed in the House would interact with the Violence

          9  Against Women's Act, which was passed in 1994, and

         10  was reauthorized with bi- partisan support just in

         11  January of this year.

         12                 As the largest social service

         13  organization in New York City dedicated exclusively

         14  to serving domestic violence victims, Sanctuary for

         15  Families assists thousands of battered women each

         16  year, in escaping the control of their abusers.

         17  Many of the women we assist are recent immigrants

         18  without immigration status in the U.S., sometimes

         19  because they're abusers failed to sponsor them for a

         20  green card.  Last year alone, the Immigration

         21  Project that I co- direct, with the help of hundreds

         22  of pro- bono attorneys from around the City,

         23  assisted over 700 battered women and their children

         24  file various immigration applications, related or

         25  incidental to obtaining lawful permanent residence
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          2  status, which colloquially is called obtaining a

          3  green card.

          4                 A very common situation that we see

          5  in our work is a family composed of a U.S. Citizen

          6  who has no immigration status, a battered wife who

          7  has no immigration status, and U.S. Citizen

          8  children.  In fact, all over New York and the United

          9  States, there are thousands of these "mixed"

         10  families.  We often see abusers threaten their wives

         11  with deportation, saying, "If you call the police,

         12  you'll be deported and you can say good bye to the

         13  children".

         14                 Even under current law, and even with

         15  Executive Order 41 in place, many battered women

         16  fear calling the police, going to the hospital, or

         17  seeking outside help and intervention. Laws that

         18  would criminalize the lack of immigration status

         19  would have a devastating impact on battered women

         20  and their ability to seek help.  So would laws that

         21  would make local police essentially an arm of ICE,

         22  the Immigration Customs Enforcement.

         23                 Domestic violence is the leading

         24  cause of death and serious injury to women in the

         25  United States, according to government statistics.
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          2  One out of every three women killed each year are

          3  killed by a spouse or intimate partner.  Why would

          4  an immigration victim of domestic violence or sexual

          5  assault, stalking, or trafficking call the police

          6  for help if she knows that the call would result in

          7  her arrest and imprisonment?

          8                 Draconian provisions that make the

          9  lack of valid immigration status a crime, which are

         10  found in the Sessenbrenner bill that's being opposed

         11  by the Resolution being proposed by the City Council

         12  today, and are in the versions that may be, or may

         13  have already been, I don't know, introduced by

         14  Senator Frist in the Senate, purport to be strong

         15  enforcement bills, but would, in fact, weaken law

         16  enforcement's ability to apprehend perpetrators of

         17  violence.  Batterers and other violent criminals

         18  would reign free, so long as they were preying

         19  victimizing the most vulnerable people amongst us,

         20  the undocumented immigrants.

         21                 And these draconian measures would

         22  essentially gut huge sections of the Violence

         23  Against Women's Act, reauthorizing January's  --  I

         24  talked about  --  thus undoing a decades worth of

         25  progress made to help immigrant battered women and
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          2  other crime victims report crimes, escape violent

          3  situations, and obtain the help they need to rebuild

          4  their lives.

          5                 Special remedies for victims of crime

          6  under VAWA include the VAWA self petitioning

          7  process, which allows battered women who are married

          8  to U.S. Citizens or green card holders obtain green

          9  cards without the support of their abusive husband,

         10  and the U and T visas, which are special visas for

         11  victims of certain crimes, if they've cooperated

         12  with law enforcement.  All of these remedies have a

         13  good moral character requirement, or a requirement

         14  similar to that, that basically say that even if

         15  you're otherwise eligible, if you're not a person

         16  with good moral character, or have committed certain

         17  crimes, you are not eligible for those immigration

         18  remedies.

         19                 Therefore, if we pass a law like the

         20  one passed in the House last year, we would on the

         21  one hand, be saying to these victims, these crime

         22  victims, "Don't worry.  Come forward.  Come out of

         23  the shadows, see help.  Call the police.  Go to the

         24  hospital".  And then, on the other hand, say, "Oh,

         25  but wait. Actually, you are not only a crime victim,
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          2  you're a criminal yourself.  You're ineligible to

          3  ask us for remedies available to crime victims under

          4  VAWA.  This is truly nonsensical.  Domestic violence

          5  victims and victims of other gender- based crimes

          6  should be able to come forward, get help, call the

          7  police and be assisted in rebuilding a safe life for

          8  themselves and their children.

          9                 Many of the victims we serve are

         10  mothers of U.S. Citizen children.  They are hard-

         11  working, responsible women.  Many have fled extreme

         12  poverty and/or circumstances of extreme abuse and

         13  persecution in their home countries.  Few of them

         14  contemplate returning to a country unfamiliar to

         15  their children and hostile to women's rights.  For

         16  these reasons, most of the immigrant battered women

         17  we serve are here to stay.  I mean, that's simply

         18  the reality.  It is in our society's interest to

         19  create a society where women, if battered, can

         20  report those crimes, and seek assistance, regardless

         21  of immigration status.

         22                 I would submit to you that it's in

         23  our society's interest to help rebuild battered

         24  women's lives as quickly as possible, regardless of

         25  immigration status, so that they can resume their
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          2  normal lives as women, as mothers, as workers, as

          3  members of our society.  And of course, it is in our

          4  society's best interest not to punish the children

          5  of these victims by separating them from their

          6  mothers, and casting them into an unknown future,

          7  where the very violence we're trying to stop, might

          8  be continued into another generation.

          9                 Many battered women who flee their

         10  abusers have little financial means, because

         11  domestic violence frequently involves isolation,

         12  financial abuse, and disempowerment, in addition to

         13  the physical abuse.  It takes the dedicated efforts

         14  of advocates and lawyers both in the nonprofit

         15  sector, as well as in the private sector, because

         16  many from the private sector volunteer and offer

         17  services on a pro bono basis, to assist battered

         18  women obtain a variety of remedies designed to help

         19  them rebuild their lives.  We should not only not

         20  criminalize these Good Samaritans, but certain

         21  narrow exceptions being considered or that are in

         22  the House bill, limited to missionaries, religious

         23  organizations, or even nonprofit organizations, are

         24  not acceptable because, as I mentioned, good works

         25  are being done not only by religious organizations
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          2  and nonprofit organizations, but many in the private

          3  sector.

          4                 I think I'm running out of time, so I

          5  just want to make another quick point, that although

          6    --  because it's so draconian, I think because

          7  it's somewhat easier to understand, and to put into

          8  a sound bite, there has been a lot of opposition and

          9  publicity around the provisions in the bill passed

         10  in the House about making criminal the fact that you

         11  don't have immigration status.  But I think another

         12  thing that we really have to watch out for, and

         13  oppose, are provisions in these bills that would

         14  expand the kinds of things that would make a person

         15  not have good moral character.  Because, as I said,

         16  many of these immigration remedies say, if you're a

         17  crime victim, if you cooperate with law enforcement,

         18  come forward, you can get immigration status.  But

         19  then all of them say, but only if you have good

         20  moral character, or have not committed other bad

         21  acts in the past that would otherwise make you

         22  ineligible.

         23                 So another sort of underhanded way we

         24  see that these bills would really have a devastating

         25  impact on crime victims and their ability to come
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          2  forward, is by expanding an already over broad

          3  definitions of what an aggravated felony is.  Many

          4  of these crimes included in the immigration bills

          5  are not felonies, but they come under the category

          6  of aggravated felonies, or what alien smuggling is.

          7  For example, even now, there's no exception that

          8  alien smuggling definition for a mother who flees

          9  with her three month old baby.  There's no

         10  humanitarian exception for the alien smuggling

         11  definition even under current law.  So these

         12  definitions already are very broad.

         13                 If we have laws on the one hand that

         14  provide remedies for crime victims, but on the other

         15  hand, have a very over- broad definition of certain

         16  bad things that a person can do that would make them

         17  ineligible, that would have the same impact of

         18  really gutting a lot of the protective and helpful

         19  legislation that's in place.

         20                 So in sum, we urge that you take a

         21  strong stand not only against H.R. 4437, but in any

         22  similar legislation, and go a step further in

         23  supporting legislation that provides for a

         24  comprehensive and humane immigration reform.  Thank

         25  you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We thank you.

          3  Joining us is my friend, Gerson.   Council Member

          4  Gerson, from Lower Manhattan.

          5                 And I want to thank  --  publicly  --

          6    I want to thank our Legal Counsel, Desiree

          7  Venegas, who has been here.  This is her first with

          8  the Immigration Committee.  And I want to thank you

          9  for doing a wonderful job.  Thank you.

         10                 Do you have any questions?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just thank you

         12  Mr. Chair for the great job you do for all of us.

         13                 MS. SEO: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.  And

         15  this meeting is adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 3:34 p.m.)
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